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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Penfield Reef Lighthouse (Light List #0966), established in 1874, stands
in five feet of water, marking a reef at the end of a shoal which
extends southeastwardly from Fairfield Beach, Connecticut, into Long
Island Sound. The structure consists of a square, two~story masonry
dwelling with a mansard roof and a wood framed 1ighttower above, mounted
on a cylindrical granite pier. The site also includes a boat landing
which projects from the north side of the pfer, and two flights of steps
which connect the landing with the main deck above and a riprap
breakwater below.

The cylindrical pier, standing on a riprap foundation 108 feet 1in
diameter, is faced with rusticated granite blocks measuring five feet by
two feet by two feet, tapering in nine courses from a diameter of forty-
eight feet nine inches to forty-six feet six inches. The pier is filled
with concrete above a base level of riprap, except for a square cavity
in the center of the upper portion which houses the cistern, cellar, and
water closet. The granite blocks are lafid in a pattern of alternating
header-stretcher and stretcher courses. The top of the pier, originally
covered with granite slabs, 1s presently surfaced with cement. The
original railing is missing and has no replacement.

The dwelling, measuring twenty-eight feet, two inches on a side, rises
centrally from the pier. Several details contribute to a Second Empire
style for the 1ighthouse: the square plan, mansard roof, quoins, and
foot scrolled window surrounds. The first floor walls are 1ined with
brick and faced with rough faced, grey granite ashlar with slightly
projecting quoins. A watertable or base is defined by granite blocks of
a larger scale. The projecting cornice at the base of the mansard roof
supports wide, rain collecting gutters, from which pipes descended at
the northwest and northeast corners of the structure through 1eaders
into the cistern in the northeast corner of the cellar. Asphalt roofing
presently covers both the lower slope of the mansard and the shaft of
the 1ighttower which rises in the center of the south elevation. The
l1ighttower is seven feet, six inches square at the level of the second
story, and octagonal in plan at the level of the watchroom above.
Surmounting the watchroom is an octagonal lantern with its surrounding
-gallery and conical roof.

On the first story, door and window openings are rectangular,
embellished with a simple trim of granite blocks with dressed borders

See Continuation Sheet
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around rough-textured faces. At the window openings, a projecting si11
upholds simple jambs under a peaked 1intel. The south and west facades
each contain three windows, while the north elevation contains one
window and a kitchen door, and the east elevation, the main entrance and
two windows. Door trim 1s similar to that at the window openings, here
with the addition of quarter-round molding detail atop the 1intels,
which extend at either side to form ears. Nefther door 1s original to
the structure. The center window on the first story of the south or
tower elevation 1s false, recalling the Georgian sense of symmetry., It
contains an infill of granite ashlar, while the other windows on the
first story each contain a six-over-six wood sash. On the second story
of the south facade, the windows flanking the tower presently are
covered over with sheathing. They originally held four-over-four wood
sashes, and were ornamented with peaked and molded lintels, as well as
suggestions of consoles and footscrolls. Other windows presently are
blocked 1n with protective coverings.

The octagonal watchroom has three windows facing west, south and east,
respectively. Cladding now conceals these openings. A ladder in the
watchroom leads to a trap door in the floor of the octagonal lantern
above. The lantern walls are composed of efght rectangular glass panes
in their upper half and eight cast-iron sections 1n their lower half.
The north, east and west sections, each contain a ventilator, while the
south section contafns a replacement door to the lantern gallery. The
conical cast-iron lantern roof was once 1ined with zinc, and retains a
spherical ventilator surmounted by a 1lightning-conductor spindle.
Galvanized metal sheeting covers the lantern gallery deck, applied over
copper sheeting. The railing around the Tantern gallery is supported
diagonally, as 1llustrated in the 1874 Annual Report of the Lighthouse
Board. This feature differs from the construction plans. A ladder
leads from the north side of the lantern gallery to the mansard roof,
which in historic 11lustrations is depicted with a sloping rather than a
flat surface.

A prominent component of the interior is a winding stafirway with turned
balusters and newel and a graceful wood handrail. The stairway ascends
in an oval from the entrance hall at the southeast corner on the first
story to the rooms in the tower. Opening from the entrance hall on the

. first story are a sitting room, a kitchen and a supply room. On the

second story are four bedrooms.
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The focal plane of the 1ighting apparatus is recorded as 51 feet above
water level. A bullseye lens, run by clockwork manufactured in the lamp
shop at Tompkinsville, New York, was in operation by 1889. The present
11ght consists of a 1000 watt DCB-24 lantern, emitting a red signal
every 60 seconds. A fog-signal operated by a fog detector sounds a blast
every 15 seconds.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Penfield Reef Lighthouse, established 1n 1874, embodies one of the most
popular masonry dwelling-with-tower designs used by the U.S. Lighthouse
Board during the 1860s and 1870s. This Second Empire design, based on
the domestic architecture of the period, reflected the national
enthusfasm for picturesque revival architectural styles. A picture of
Penfield Reef was included in the Lighthouse Board's exhibit at the
Centennial Exhibition in Philadelphia in 1876. Penfield Reef Lighthouse
also is significant in the history of aids to navigation in Long Island
Sound, as an fmportant part of the federal program to accommodate
increased commercial traffic in the Bridgeport Harbor area after the
Civil War.

Penfield Reef Lighthouse was an essential part of the development of
Bridgeport Harbor after the Civil War. Before Penfield Reef Lighthouse
was constructed, the site was marked with a can buoy. Beginning in 1866
lobbying efforts from Bridgeport maritime interests resulted in a
proposal by the U.S. Lighthouse Board in 1868 for a 1ighthouse to be
constructed in the five feet of water there. Marking the shoal with a
1ight and a fog signal would enable ships to travel directly between
Bridgeport's burgeoning harbor and New York City at all hours and in all
weather conditions. Compared with the depth of the sfte necessary for a
masonry pier to be built at Race Rock in Long Island Sound, this was a
modest challenge; however, the technology at that date required a costly
circular pier of granite blocks, cut to fit together to form rings which
could be filled with riprap. Cutstone foundations were the only
solution available at the time for underwater sites in the latitudes
where floating ice made the slender legs of a tubular pipe foundation,
such as a screwpile 11ght, unusable. The foundation proposed for the
Race Rock site was used as a model for that at Penfield Reef.

The domestic model which dominates the image of Penfield Reef had been
used previously in Hudson River 1ighthouses. Joseph Lederle, Acting
Lighthouse Engineer for the Third District of the Lighthouse
Establ ishment, recommended in April 1868, that the Penfield Reef tower
connected with the keeper's dwelling "..be built on the plan approved
by the (Lighthouse) Board for the Hudson River stations." At Esopus
Meadows, N.Y., Lighthouse, established in 1871, this exact design
appears, 1in frame construction instead of masonry. Bridgeport Harbor
Lighthouse, Ct., Hart Island in Long Island Sound, Sabin's Point Light
Station, R.I., Long Beach Bar Light, and Colchester Reef Lighthouse on

See Continuation Sheet
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Lake Champlain were listed in the Lighthouse Board records as utilizing
this design, as well.

Procuring the needed appropriations from Congress delayed the approval
of plans for the foundation until after March 3, 1871, when a total of
$55,000.00 was made avaflable. From 1871 until 1873 the riprap
foundation and granite pier were under construction. The dwelling, of
cut granite blocks on the first story and wood framing on the second,
was erected in 1873, and the 11ght was first exhibited on January 16,
1874.

A view of Penfield Reef appeared in the Annual Report of the Lighthouse
Board for 1874, and, two years later, was included in the Centennial
Exhibition. Ironically, the technology which Penfield Reef's foundation
represented and the style of its dwelling-with-tower were already out of
date. Penfield Reef, based on the design work and engineering of the
1860s and early 1870s, represents one of the last examples of a masonry
domestic model lighthouses on a masonry foundation; however, its
position near the Connecticut shoreline makes it one of the most visible
1ighthouses in the nominated group.

A fog-bells struck by machinery, was the first fog apparatus at
Penfield. The foghorn installed in Penfield Reef Light was audible
fifteen or twenty minutes away, according to early reports. This
apparatus was replaced 1n 1892 by a Daboll trumpet operated by duplicate
Rider hot-air engines. 1In 1898 the Rider engines were replaced by two
Hornsby-Akroyd o1l engines.

A fourth order lens was equipped with clockwork in 1889, made for
Penfield Reef at the Lighthouse Board's lamp shop in Tompkinville, New
York. The 1ight was automated 1n December 1971.
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» Penfield Reef, 1880,
National Archives Record Group 26.

U S. Coast Guard Academy Library,
Civil Engineering Drawings, Microfiim, Reel 5A.

U.S. Lighthouse Board, Annual Report of the Lighthouse Board,
1868-1875, 1877-1883, 1887-1889, 1892, 1894, 1898~-1899, 1901-1902.
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SUPPLEMENTARY LISTING RECORD

NRIS Reference Number: 89001473 Date Listed: 09/27/90
Penfield Reef Lighthouse Fairfield CT
Property Name County 8tate

Operating Lighthouses in Connecticut MPS
Multiple Name

This property is determined eligible for listing in the National
Register of Historic Places in accordance with the attached
nomination documentation subject to the following exceptioms,
exclusions, or amendments, notwithstanding the National Park
Service certification included in the nomination documentation.
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Amended Items in Nomination:

8. 8Statement of Significance: Level

The appropriate level of significance for this property is State.

This information was confirmed with John Herzan, National Register
Coordinator, CTSHPO, by telephone,

DISTRIBUTION:
National Register property file
Nominating Authority (without attachment)
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Description (continued):

In 1989, Penfield Reef Lighthouse was re-photographed and
examined in the field in order to bring the National Register
documentation fully up to date. Following are the features or
characteristics of the lighthouse that differ from its condition
and appearance as described in the National Register
Inventory/Nomination form prepared in 1985.

There is now an aluminum pipe-~railing encircling the top
edge of the foundation pier.

The sash has been removed from all the windows, which are
now filled with plywood covered by sheet-metal facing; much
of the interior window trim remains in place.

The interior stairway remains in place, but the rail,
balusters and newels have been replaced by a plain rail of
common lumber.

Penfield Reef Lighthouse still retains the reguisite degree of
integrity for National Register eligibility.
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All photographs:

PENFIELD REEF LIGHTHOUSE

Long Island Sound off FAIRFIELD, CT

Photo Credit: HRC, Hartford, CT

. May 1989

Negative filed with Connecticut Historical Commission,
Hartford, CT

U ods GBI

East and north elevations, camera facing southwest
Photograph 1 of 8

Tower, camera facing upward and northeast
Photograph 2 of 8

Typical exterior window treatment, camera facing northwest
Photograph 3 of 8

Exterior door surround, camera facing southeast
Photograph 4 of 8

Original interior doors and door trim
Photograph 5 of 8

Typical interior window treatment
Photograph 6 of 8

Staircase, viewed from first floor
Photograph 7 of 8

Lantern-deck railing, view north
Photograph 8 of 8






NAME OF PROPERTY: Penfield Reef Lighthouse
COUNTY WHERE LOCATED: Fairfield County, CT
DATE OF PHOTOGRAPH: 1985
NAME OF PHOTOGRAPHER: John Milner Associates, Inc.
LOCATION OF THE PHOTOGRAPH NEGATIVE: John Milner Associates, Inc.
309 N. Matlack St., West Chester, PA
DESCRIPTION OF THE VIEW: Exterior, view from southeast.

PHOTOGRAPH NUMBER: 1
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NAME OF PROPERTY: Penfield Reef Lighthouse

COUNTY WHERE LOCATED: Fairfield County, CT

DATE OF PHOTOGRAPH: 1985

NAME OF PHOTOGRAPHER: John Milner Associates, Inc.

LOCATION OF THE PHOTOGRAPH NEGATIVE: John Milner Associates, Inc.
309 N. Matlack St., West Chester, PA

DESCRIPTION OF THE VIEW: Detail, blind middle window on south elevation.

PHOTOGRAPH NUMBER: 2
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NAME OF PROPERTY: Penfield Reef Lighthouse
COUNTY WHERE LOCATED: Fairfield County, CT
DATE OF PHOTOGRAPH: 1985
NAME OF PHOTOGRAPHER: John Milner Associates, Inc.
LOCATION OF THE PHOTOGRAPH NEGATIVE: John Milner Associates, Inc.
309 N. Matlack St., West Chester, PA
DESCRIPTION OF THE VIEW: Detail, interior woodwork, second floor.

PHOTOGRAPH NUMBER: 3






NAME OF PROPERTY: Penfield Reef Lighthouse
COUNTY WHERE LOCATED: Fairfield County, CT
DATE OF PHOTOGRAPH: 1985
NAME OF PHOTOGRAPHER: John Milner Associates, Inc.
LOCATION OF THE PHOTOGRAPH NEGATIVE: John Milner Associates, Inc.
309 N. Matlack St., West Chester, PA
DESCRIPTION OF THE VIEW: Staircase, connecting second and third floors.

PHOTOGRAPH NUMBER: 4



